
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Wednesday, 25th November, 2020 
 
Place 
This meeting will be held remotely. The meeting can be viewed by pasting this link 
into your browser:-  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KuT3ecSwD1E&feature=youtu.be 
 

 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declaration of Interests   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 

 
 (a) To agree the minutes of the Cabinet Member for Jobs and 

Regeneration held on 21 October, 2020   
 

 (b) Matters Arising   
 

4. Response to Petition Requesting "Save the Coventry Elephant" (Pages 7 
- 12) 

 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development. 
 
To consider a petition bearing 876 signatures which has been submitted. The 
Petition Organiser has been invited to attend the meeting. 
 

5. Response to Petition Requesting the Adoption of a Phone Box in 
Sutherland Avenue to House a Defibrillator (Pages 13 - 18) 

 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development  
 
To consider a petition bearing 203 signatures which has been submitted by 
Councillor G Ridley, a Woodlands Ward Councillor. Councillor Ridley has 
been invited to attend the meeting.  
 

6. Redevelopment of Siskin Drive Traveller Site (Pages 19 - 30) 
 

 Report of the Director of Property Services and Development 
 

7. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KuT3ecSwD1E&feature=youtu.be


Page 2 

8. Any other items of public business which the Cabinet Member decides to 
take as matters of urgency because of the special circumstances 
involved.   
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House Coventry 
 
Tuesday, 17 November 2020 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Suzanne Bennett e mail suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillor J O’Boyle, Cabinet Member 
 
By Invitation: Councillor P Male, Shadow Cabinet Member, Councillor G Ridley 
 
 

Suzanne Bennett  
e mail suzanne.bennett@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration held at 1.00 

pm on Wednesday, 21 October 2020 
 

Present: Councillor J O’Boyle 

Members:  (Cabinet Member) 
 

 Councillor P Male (Shadow Cabinet Member) 

Other Members: Councillor N Akhtar  (Chair of the Scrutiny Co-ordination 
Committee) 

 
Employees: 

 

 S Bennett, Law and Governance 
M Dillow, Climate Change and Sustainability 
G Holmes, Law and Governance 
E Kirby, Law and Governance 
B Willers, Climate Change and Sustainability 
 

    

Public Business 
 
15. Declaration of Interests  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

16. Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 July, 2020 were agreed and signed as a 
true record. 
 
There were no matters arising. 
 

17. Green Homes Grant LAD Scheme Funding  
 

The Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration considered a report of the 
Director of Business, Investment and Culture which indicated that Coventry City 
Council (CCC) has secured £530,000 funding as part of BEIS’ (Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy) Green Homes Grant (GHG) Local 
Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme.  
 
The Scheme aims to raise the energy efficiency rating of low income and low EPC 
rated households (those rated at EPC Band E, F or G), allowing the Council to 
support some of the most vulnerable residents in the City. CCC will work with our 
existing Affordable Warmth delivery partner, Act on Energy (AOE), to ensure all 
grant funding is spent by the end of this financial year (Mach 2021). AOE are a 
local energy conservation charity that have been procured by CCC to deliver the 
existing ‘Keeping Coventry Warm’ scheme, including operating an advice line for 
residents, and ensuring delivery of physical interventions through our existing 
funding streams.  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

The LAD Scheme will be used to support at least an additional 46 low-income 
households within the City with £10,000 grants towards the cost of energy 
efficiency measures, including but not limited to, external wall insulation (EWI), 
cavity wall insulation (CWI), roof insulation and heat pumps. This scheme will 
complement the existing ‘Keeping Coventry Warm’ scheme that has been 
operating in Coventry for several years, by bringing in an additional £530,000 of 
funding to support residents under a slightly different eligibility criteria.     
 
This funding is essential to support some of the most vulnerable residents in the 
City’s community to improve the energy efficiency of their home, make their homes 
warmer and reduce the levels of fuel poverty across the City. This could in turn 
lead to:  
 

1. Reduction in health-related morbidity and mortality associated with living in 
cold homes. 
 

2. Reduced demand for health and care services 
 

. 
3. Improved energy efficiency for the houses supported, reducing their energy 

bills and carbon footprint. 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, Councillor N Akhtar, Chair of the Scrutiny Co-
ordination Committee attended the meeting for this item and agreed the need for 
urgency so that call-in arrangements would not apply. The reason for urgency was 
that the Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery (LAD) Scheme was made 
available to Councils with the capacity to deliver between October 2020 - March 
2021. As a result, the timescales for delivery are already tight and further delay to 
the acceptance of the funding will reduce the time to deliver further.  
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration:-  
 

1) Approves the acceptance and acts as accountable body for the grant 
funding from BEIS totalling £530,000 to deliver the Green Homes Grant 
LAD Scheme.  
 

2) Delegates authority to the Director of Business, Investment and Culture and 
the Director of Finance, following consultation with the Director of Law and 
Governance, to negotiate final terms and approve entry into: 
 

a) A Memorandum of Understanding between the Secretary of State for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy and Coventry City Council.  

 
3) That following completion of the actions set out in Recommendation 2 

above, delegates authority to the Director of Business, Investment & 
Culture to manage and administer the Grant Funding Agreement with BEIS 
and the agreements with the Council’s delivery partner (Act On Energy).  

 
18. Outstanding Issues  

 
There were no outstanding items of business. 
 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

19. Any Other Items of Urgent Public Business  
 
There were no other items of urgent public business. 
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 1.15 pm)  

  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
Cabinet Member 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration 25 November 2020 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration - Councillor J O’Boyle 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Property Services and Development 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
St. Michael’s 
 
Title: Response to Petition Requesting “Save the Coventry Elephant” 
 
Is this a key decision?  
No 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report responds to a petition bearing 876 signatures which was submitted to the Council. 
The petition requests that the Council “save the Coventry Elephant and keep it under public 
ownership”. The report also provides relevant information regarding the decommissioning of 
Coventry Sports Centre (“The Elephant”) and current work to establish options for its future use. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration is recommended to: 
 
(1) Note the issues raised in the petition 
(2) Note that officers will continue with existing work streams in relation to Coventry Sports 

Centre in order to establish options for its future use 
(3) That officers be requested to inform the petitioners of the situation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 

  

List of Appendices included: 
 
N/A 
 
Background papers: 
 
N/A  
 
Other useful documents 
 
Cabinet Report 12th February 2019 - Acceptance of Sport England Grant Funding towards 50m 
Swimming Pool at Alan Higgs Centre and future of Coventry Sports and Leisure Centre 
 

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42701/Acceptance%20of%20Sport%20England%

20Grant%20Funding%20towards%2050m%20Swimming%20Pool%20at%20Alan%20Higgs%20Cent

re%20and%20future%20.pdf 

 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
No 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
No 
 

Page 8

https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42701/Acceptance%20of%20Sport%20England%20Grant%20Funding%20towards%2050m%20Swimming%20Pool%20at%20Alan%20Higgs%20Centre%20and%20future%20.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42701/Acceptance%20of%20Sport%20England%20Grant%20Funding%20towards%2050m%20Swimming%20Pool%20at%20Alan%20Higgs%20Centre%20and%20future%20.pdf
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/documents/s42701/Acceptance%20of%20Sport%20England%20Grant%20Funding%20towards%2050m%20Swimming%20Pool%20at%20Alan%20Higgs%20Centre%20and%20future%20.pdf


 

  

Report title: Response to Petition Requesting “Save the Coventry Elephant” 
 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 A petition bearing 876 signatures has been received asking for the Council to “save the 

Coventry Elephant and keep it under public ownership” and also to consider the Coventry 
Elephant to become a popular tourist destination as well as a new cultural and business 
centre.   

 
1.2 On the 12th February 2019, Cabinet approved the managed decommissioning and closure 

of Coventry Sports and Leisure Centre which includes the swimming baths and the 
Elephant, as well as its potential disposal as a surplus property. 

 
1.3 Following these Cabinet Decisions, the Council ran an expression of interest process for 

interested parties to come forward with proposals for the site and buildings. 
 
1.4 This has resulted in an identified developer entering into an Exclusivity Agreement with the 

Council which requires them to come forward with proposals and a business case for the 
site and buildings by May 2021 which needs to meet certain prescribed criteria for the 
buildings. 

 
1.5 Once these proposals and business case are received, the Council will consider and take 

forward any viable proposals for the site and buildings that meet the said criteria in line with 
its usual governance procedures and statutory responsibilities, including Cabinet and Full 
Council approvals where appropriate. 

 
2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 The Council and the proposed developer are working within the parameters of an 

Exclusivity Agreement agreed between the parties in relation to the Coventry Sports and 
Leisure Centre. It is recommended that the Cabinet Member notes that work streams are 
continuing under the terms of the Exclusivity Agreement and proposals will be brought 
forward in due course to identify sustainable uses and options for the buildings and the 
wider site.  

 
2.2 For the avoidance of doubt, no decisions have yet been made on future uses and options 

for the Sports and Leisure Centre buildings and site.  
 

2.3 The alternative to the above course of action would be to seek to negotiate an end to the 
Exclusivity Agreement with the proposed developer. This is not considered an option due to 
the legal terms contained within the Exclusivity Agreement and would result in the Council 
potentially missing an opportunity to have proposals brought forward, for further 
consideration, in relation to a key area of the city centre.  

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 No consultation has taken place at this time. 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 The recommendation to continue with existing work streams, if approved, will be 

implemented immediately.  
 
 

Page 9



 

  

5. Comments from the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
5.1.1 There are no financial implications within the recommendations above.  Once options are 

considered and identified, the Council will take forward any proposals for the site and 
buildings in line with its usual governance procedures and statutory responsibilities.  

  
5.2 Legal implications 
 
5.2.1 In line with the Council’s procedure for dealing and responding to petitions, the Council is 

required to inform the public on how it plans to deal with the petition. 
 
5.2.2 There are no legal implications within the recommendations above. Once options are 

developed, the Council will take forward any proposals for the site and buildings in line with 
its usual governance procedures and statutory responsibilities.  

 
6. Other implications 

 
6.1 There are no other implications within the recommendations above. Once current work is 

concluded, the Council will take forward any proposals for the site and buildings in line with 
its usual governance procedures and statutory responsibilities. 

 
7. How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
7.1 The delivery of the work outlined in this report can deliver a range of placemaking and 

economic development objectives that will help to realise the Council’s strategic ambitions 
for a more vibrant and economically prosperous city.  

 
8. How is risk being managed? 
 
8.1 There is no risk within the recommendations above. Once current work is concluded, the 

Council will take forward any proposals for the site and buildings in line with its usual 
governance procedures and statutory responsibilities. 

 
9. What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
9.1 There is no impact upon the organisation within the recommendations above.  Once  

current work is concluded, the Council will take forward any proposals for the site and 
buildings in line with its usual governance procedures and statutory responsibilities. 

 

10. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

10.1 There are no specific impacts on equalities resulting from the recommendations contained 
within this report. 

 
11. Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 
 
11.1 There are no other implications or impact on the environment within the recommendations 

above.  Once current work is concluded, the Council will take forward any proposals for the 
site and buildings in line with its usual governance procedures and statutory 
responsibilities. 

 
 
 

Page 10

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

12. Implications for partner organisations? 
 
12.1 There are no other implications for partner organisations within the recommendations 

above. Once current work is concluded, the Council will take forward any proposals for the 
site and buildings in line with its usual governance procedures and statutory 
responsibilities. 

Page 11



 

  

Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: Strategic Lead - Property and Development 
 
 
Directorate: Property and Development 
 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Adam Hunt 
Tel: 02476 831812 
Email: Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk   
 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 
Contributor/approver name Title Service Area Date doc 

sent out 
Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Aimee Proctor Programme 
Manager - 
Finance 

Finance 03/11/20 05/11/20 

Emma Kirby   Property 
Lawyer  

 
Law and 
Governance  

03/11/20 05/11/20 

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members) 

    

Phil Helm  Finance 
Manager  

Finance 05/11/20 10/11/20 

Oluremi Aremu  Major Projects 
Lead Lawyer   

Law and 
Governance 

05/11/20 10/11/20 

Richard Moon Director – 
Property and 
Development 

- 05/11/20 05/11/20 

Councillor J O’Boyle  Cabinet Member 
for Jobs and 
Regeneration   

-  10/11/20 10/11/20 

 
 

This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 
 

Page 12

mailto:Adam.Hunt@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings



 

Public report 
Cabinet Member 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Member for Jobs & Regeneration  25/11/2020 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration - Councillor J O’Boyle 
  
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Property Services & Development  
 
Ward(s) affected: 
Woodlands 
 
Title: Response to Petition Requesting the Adoption of a Phone Box in Sutherland Ave to 

House a Defibrillator  
 
 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
No 
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
This report responds to a petition bearing 203 signatures which was submitted to the Council.  
The petition is supported by Councillor Gary Ridley. The petition requests that “the BT phone box 
near the shops at Sutherland Avenue to be repurposed to host a defibrillator and call on BT and 
the Council to work together to make this possible.” 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration is recommended to: 
 

Agree to approach BT to request taking ownership of the telephone box for a £1 (One 
Pound) which will then be used to house a defibrillator subject to the petitioners forming a 
properly constituted group who shall be responsible for taking on the liability for the repair, 
maintenance, insurance and electricity costs incurred in relation to the telephone box after an 
initial 12 month period as well as indemnifying the Council against these costs by way of a 
legally binding agreement. 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

  

List of Appendices included: 
None 
 
Background papers: 
https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2019/aug/27/ringing-the-changes-how-britains-red-

phone-boxes-are-being-given-new-life 
Other useful documents 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
Will this report go to Council?  
No 
Page 3 onwards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

  

Report title: Response to Petition Requesting the Adoption of a Phone Box in Sutherland 
Ave to House a Defibrillator 

 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 A petition has been submitted requesting the Council seeks the adoption of a BT phone 

box in Sutherland Ave to house a defibrillator.  
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 The Council is supportive of the principle of adopting the telephone box on Sutherland Ave 

for use proposed by the petitioners. 
 

2.2 However, it is imperative that the Council does not take on the long-term liability for the 
repair, maintenance, insurance and electricity costs which are a condition of BT agreeing to 
transfer the phone box. This is because an increasing number of BT phone boxes are 
becoming redundant and may be proposed for similar uses throughout the city potentially 
creating a long-term financial liability for the Council. 
 

2.3 Accordingly, the Council will only be prepared to adopt the phone box once the petitioners 
form a properly constituted group to take on the above liabilities. The Council will be 
prepared to fund these costs for an initial 12 month period to allow the group to fund raise, 
but the Council will require the group to indemnify it against these costs by way of a legally 
binding agreement between the parties. In the event that the petitioners aren’t able to form 
such a group the Council will not finalise the adoption of the phone box. 

 
2.4 It is understood that there are other examples of how this has been done successfully in 

other areas of the country. A link to an article showing how this has been done elsewhere 
is included in the Background Papers. 

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 No consultation has been carried out at this time.  

 
 
4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 The Council will approach BT to commence the adoption process on receipt of written 

confirmation from the petitioners that they agree to form a group and take on the liabilities 
in accordance with the recommendations of this report.  

 
5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 
 There will be some small minor costs of running, insuring and maintaining the box for a 12-

month period, however it is expected that this will be minimal and can therefore be afforded 
from within existing property budgets 

 
5.2 Legal implications 
 
 The decision to be taken in this report are consistent with the Council’s Constitution. The 

adoption of the telephone box will ensure that it remains in situ thereby protecting the 

Page 15



 

  

heritage of the community which aligns with the principles of the Town and Country 
Planning Legislation. 

 It should be noted that once the Council adopts the telephone box, the ownership will 
transfer to the Council who will be responsible for ongoing maintenance and upkeep. 
However, the Council will seek to mitigate this liability after an initial 12-month period 
through a legally binding agreement with the group set up by the petitioners whereupon 
they will indemnify the Council in relation to these costs. 

 
6. Other implications 

 
 There are no other implications within the recommendations above. 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 Not applicable 
 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 The financial risk of the adoption will be managed in accordance with the recommendations 

of this report. 
 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
 
 None.    
 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
 This decision does not impact on equalities 
 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 None 
 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

 
 
Report author(s): Richard Moon 
 
Name and job title: Director Property Services & Development 
 
 
Directorate: 
 
 
Tel and email contact: 
 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Suzanne Bennett Governance 
Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

04/11/20 04/11/20 

     

Other members      

     

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members) 

    

Finance: Phil Helm Finance Lead Finance 29/10/2020 02/11/2020 

Legal: Oluremi Aremu Major Projects 
Lead Lawyer 

Law and 
Governance 

29/10/2020 02/11/2020 

Comms: J Fairbrother Comms Lead Communications 29/10/2020 02/11/2020 

Members: Cllr J O’Boyle Cabinet 
Member for 
Jobs and 
Regeneration 

 13/11/20 16/11/20 

     

     

 
 
This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  

Page 17

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank




 

Public report 
Cabinet Member 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration 25 November 2020 
 
 
Name of Cabinet Member:  
Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration – Councillor J O’Boyle 
 
Director Approving Submission of the report: 
Director of Property Services and Development 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
Cheylesmore 
 
Title: 
Redevelopment of Siskin Drive Traveller Site 
 
Is this a key decision?  
 
No  
 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
Siskin Drive Traveller site, which is an allocated Traveller Site in the Coventry Local Plan, is 
currently vacant. The site is in poor condition and requires redevelopment. Homes England have 
recently advised that there is a new Traveller specific grant funding available to assist with the 
development of permanent Traveller sites.  
 
Following consideration around the delivery options available this report is recommending the 
Council works with a registered provider – Rooftop Housing Group to redevelop the site to 
provide 12 permanent pitches in line with an agreed design criteria. Subject to obtaining grant 
funding & planning consent the Council would grant a long leasehold interest to Rooftop Housing 
Group to construct and manage the Traveller site.  
 
The purpose of this report is to seek approval to conclude terms with Rooftop Housing Group for 
the grant of the long lease to enable them, (subject to confirmation of funding, planning consent 
and Board approval) to redevelop the site for permanent pitches for Traveller families.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 

  

 
The Cabinet Member for Jobs and Regeneration is recommended to: 
 

1. Approve the proposal for redevelopment of Siskin Drive Traveller site to provide 12 
permanent pitches. 

 
2. Delegate authority to the Director of Project Management and Property Services to 

conclude negotiations for the terms of the long lease to Rooftop Housing Group that will 
enable them to secure Board approval, funding and planning, facilitating the 
redevelopment and subsequent management of Siskin Drive Traveller Site. 

 
 
 
 
 
List of Appendices included: 
 
Appendix 1 – Location plan for Siskin Drive Traveller Site.  
 
Background papers: 
 
None 
 
Other useful documents 
 
None 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?  
 
No 
 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?  
 
No 
 
 
Will this report go to Council?  
 
No 
 
 

Page 20



 

  

 
Report title: Redevelopment of Siskin Drive Traveller Site 
 
 
1. Context (or background) 
 
1.1 The Siskin Drive Traveller site was originally established by the Council in the 1970’s. The 

Council now has vacant possession of the site following the departure of the last remaining 

Traveller family. The site was left in a very poor condition.  Planning policy in Coventry’s 

Local Plan identifies the site as an allocated permanent Traveller site. Policy H7 Gypsy and 

Traveller Accommodation in the Coventry Plan identifies that ‘provision will be made for at 

least 16 permanent pitches for Gypsies and Travellers through the re-modelling of the site 

at Siskin Drive’. 

1.2 The identification of 16 pitches in the Local Plan was based upon the Travellers Need 

Assessment of 2014 which was predominantly informed by natural growth within the 

existing Traveller families at Siskin Drive & Burbages Lane (private site) at the time. 

1.3 Since the ‘Traveller Need’s Assessment’ of 2014  there have been changes to the physical 
requirements of Travellers pitches and changes to H & S standards, along with the view 
that less cramped sites provide better places to live and improve support for the families. 
This has meant that the number of pitches had to be reduced to comply with guidance. . 
Travellers are now looking for sites that can accommodate larger Chalets with Utility and 
Kitchen / dinning accommodation blocks provided as well as parking for vehicles and a 
travelling caravan. To provide the new larger pitches and accommodation blocks and 
roadway through the site, as well as meeting the site separation fire safety regulations, 
requires the scheme to be reduced to 12 pitches 
 

1.4 In the wider context of the ‘Local Plan’ the other 4 pitches identified could be delivered from 
private ‘windfall sites’ if there was further demand from the community.  

 
1.5 Funding towards the costs of developing Traveller sites is available from Homes England. 

They have just announced their 2021 – 2025 programme of funding for affordable housing 
and money has been specifically identified for permanent pitches on Traveller sites as part 
of this main funding programme. Historically Homes England have prepaid to fund around 
60 - 65% of the costs of a Traveller site development. This excludes the value of the land 
included therefore 35 - 40% of the costs are required to be found elsewhere.   

 
1.6 There is a policy in the Local Plan for the requirement for permanent Traveller pitches 

across the city. If Siskin Drive is not developed as a permanent Traveller site an alternative 
site where permanent pitches could be developed would be required unless the Council 
relied on the private sector to develop permanent Traveller sites in the city. 
 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal 
 
2.1 Option 1 - The Council enters into a long leasehold interest with Rooftop Housing 

Group to redevelop and manage Siskin Drive Traveller site. 
 

The Council enters into a long lease (99yrs) with Rooftop Housing Group and they submit a 
bid direct to Homes England for grant funding and make the planning application for the 
redevelopment of the site for 12 permanent pitches in accordance with an agreed design 
criteria. 

 

Page 21



 

  

Rooftop Housing Group have a successful track record in securing funding and developing 
Traveller sites having done so in Solihull in 2016 with Solihull Borough Council. They used 
a modular build for the utility blocks which could be replicated on the Siskin Drive site.   

 
A number of meetings have been held with Rooftop Housing Group and they have 
submitted an initial financial appraisal based on estimated costs to the Council. They have 
confirmed that they have internal approval to now work up detailed costings based on a 
design scheme and to complete a full financial appraisal. This will be the basis upon which 
discussions with Homes England, with regard to grant funding, will also be concluded and 
their final submission to their Board for approval to complete the lease. They have 
indicated that final sign off to their Board will be in March 2021. During this time as well as 
securing funding Rooftop will commit to instructing their legal team to ensure the lease 
documents are agreed by March 2021. 

 
Benefits of this option: 

 
Rooftop Housing Group have experience of developing and managing Traveller sites 
having a successful design for facilities along with an understanding of development costs 
and working with Homes England.  

 
The Council would remain involved as land owner only with the direct responsibility for 
redevelopment of the site along with the financial risk of funding the development, letting of 
the site, management & ongoing costs of maintenance and repair passing across to 
Rooftop Housing Group. The site would remain as a permanent Traveller site with the 12 
permanent pitches substantially meeting the citywide requirements for permanent Traveller 
pitches in the city as set down in policy H7 of the Local Plan. 

 
The Council would not be required to make a capital contribution and there would be 
ongoing revenue savings of £33,568 for the Council as all costs and risk are passed to 
Rooftop 

 
Risks of this option: 

 
Rooftop Housing Group corporately may ultimately decide not to progress with the scheme 

dependant on the level of funding able to be secured from Homes England and 

requirements placed on the development from a planning perspective which make the 

delivery of the scheme financially challenging. If this happened then the Council would 

have to look at another option.  

2.2 Option 2 – The Council redevelops and manages Siskin Drive Traveller Site. 
 
The Council would be required to make a grant application to Homes England for funding 
to redevelop the site. In the past Homes England have indicated that they would expect the 
Council to contribute a sum in the region of 1/3rd of the budget cost for the scheme for grant 
funding to be provided.  

 
A design specification for a 12 pitch scheme has been prepared and the cost of this 
scheme has been estimated at £1.6m. Based on the previous comments by Homes 
England the Council could be looking to contribute £640k of the total cost. 
 
The Council would then need to apply for planning consent and procure a design & build 
contractor to redevelop the site.  
 
The Council currently has a Siskin Drive Traveller Site Manager and they would manage 
the new site. 

Page 22



 

  

 
Benefits of this option: 
 
The Council would receive the rental income from the site. 
 
The Council would retain control of the site and who it let the pitches to.  
 
This option would give the Council flexibility long term if the requirement/need for a 
permanent traveller site changed in the future. 
 
Risks of this option: 
 
Financial risk would sit with the Council. As the grant application will have to be made 
based on estimated costs before tenders are submitted there would be no cost certainty 
until the Council was in receipt of actual tender prices. There is then no opportunity to 
resubmit for additional grant funding from Homes England.  
 
If the Council choose to bid for funding and chose to meet the gap from Borrowing it would 
cost c£28k per year over 40 year period to repay the loan. 
 
Once developed the income risk sits with the Council to maintain a fully let site to secure 
the rental income to service any debt for development of the site and repair & maintenance 
of the site into the future. 
 
The Council would also be required to provide day to day site management. The Council 
does have a current post holder who has the skills and experience to undertake this work.  

 
  

2.3 Option 3 – The site is not developed and is sold. 
 
The Council could make a decision not to redevelop a Traveller site at Siskin Drive and to 
dispose of the site.  
 
This could be a disposal with the use controlled as a Traveller site. (We are aware that 
there are individuals in the Traveller community who are looking to buy sites, develop and 
run private facilities.) 
 
The disposal of the site would generate a capital receipt. If we sold to a Traveller, the city 
would still have a Traveller site in the location, counting towards Traveller needs in the city 
but the Council would have no control over its letting criteria or management.  
 
The location of the site & its proximity to industrial uses would mean that the Council could 
look to dispose of the site for an industrial use (subject to planning).  
 
As there is a policy in the ‘Local Plan’ for the requirement for permeant Traveller pitches 
across the city a decision to sell the site for an alternative use would mean that the Council 
was expecting to either identify an alternative site where pitches could be developed, 
(which would be challenging) or rely on the private sector to develop permeant Traveller 
pitches in the city. 
 
Disposing of the freehold interest of the site for an industrial use (if permitted) would 
generate a significantly higher capital receipt than if the site was sold with a restriction on 
use to a permanent Traveller site.  

 
 

Page 23



 

  

2.4  Option 4 – Do nothing 
 

The Council could continue to keep the site vacant and secure but the Council would not 
be providing any permanent pitches to meet the requirements of the Local Plan.  
 

2.5 Option 5 – Seek another registered provider to take a lease of the Site. 
 

The Council did approach a number of registered providers but Rooftop Housing Group 
were the only organisation who expressed an interest. It is therefore very unlikely that the 
Council would find another organisation who wished to take on the site and would be 
prepared to pay a rent/premium.  

 
2.6  Recommendation – Proceed with Option 1 
 

It is recommended that the Council proceeds by way of Option 1 and negotiates the grant 
of a long lease with Rooftop Housing Group.  

 
Rooftop Housing Group have experience of both redeveloping and managing permanent 
Traveller sites and in granting a lease. The Council would not receive a rental income but 
the Council would be passing on the risk of control of gap funding and also the ongoing 
risk/cost of managing the site. By granting a long leasehold interest the Council would, 
however, still maintain some control over the ongoing use of the site and the Council would 
still have a permanent Traveller site in the city.  

 
3. Results of consultation undertaken 

 
3.1 The Council approached a number of registered providers who are Housing Partners to 

see if they would be interested in working with the Council to redevelop the Siskin Drive 
Traveller Site and Rooftop Housing Group were the only organisation who expressed an 
interest  
 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Subject to Cabinet Member approval officers will conclude negotiations with Rooftop 

Housing Group to agree the terms of an Agreement for Lease and Lease. Rooftop Housing 
Group have confirmed that they would require Board approval prior to entering into an 
Agreement for Lease & Lease. They have committed to use internal resources and spend 
money on external QS and architectural consultants now to enable them to prepare the 
detailed financial appraisal & secure the 60 – 65% grant funding required from Homes 
England. In addition they will also need to prepare the planning application and legal 
agreements so that they would not be in a position to take a report to their Board until 
March 2021 for their final sign off. The Lease would be granted once Rooftop Housing 
Group had secured planning consent and all funding (including a grant from Homes 
England). The first pitches could potentially be available in mid 2022 assuming 3 months to 
confirm planning and 9 months to build the 12 pitches. 

 
 

5. Comments from Director of Finance and Director of Law and Governance 
 
5.1 Financial implications 
 

Based on current rents being achieved on Traveller sites it is anticipated that a new site 
could potentially generate rents of £95 per week per pitch which would give a potential 
gross income of approx. £59k for 12 pitches (assuming 100% occupancy), although this 
would need to be netted down to take account of R & M, finance & management costs. 

Page 24



 

  

 
If the preferred option is accepted the Council will save £33,568 in revenue funding and no 
capital contribution will be required. 

 
If Rooftop take on the management of the Siskin Drive Travellers site is will be cost neutral 
to the City Council, compared to a cost of £40,000 (including the cost to borrow the 
additional capital) for the Council to run the site. 
 
 
If Rooftop Housing Group decided not to proceed then the Council would have to consider 
Option 2 if it wanted to continue to have a permanent Traveller site at Siskin Drive and also 
control over use. If the Council redeveloped the site gap funding would be required for the 
difference between the total redevelopment cost and the grant funding given. Officers have 
looked again at the specification for a 12 pitch scheme and the cost of this scheme has 
been estimated by a Q.S at £1.6m. Based on the previous comments by Homes England 
the Council would be looking to contribute in the region of £640k of the total cost. The 
business case for the gap funding would be the future net rental income that the site could 
achieve.  
 
Rooftop Housing Group have indicated that the site could not be placed on charge with 
funders and therefore the level of loan finance would have to be kept to a minimum and/or 
repaid as soon as possible. Any profit (net income less loan repayment) would have to be 
targeted at repaying loan finance. On this basis Rooftop Housing Group have confirmed 
that they would not be in a position to pay the Council any rent or a premium under the 
terms of the lease.  From an initial financial appraisal based on estimated costs Rooftop 
Housing Group have anticipated a net income in the region of £38k per annum and 
indicated that they would be seeking a grant from H.E of £820k leaving a loan requirement 
of £548k. Rooftop Housing Group now have internal approval to undertake a costing 
exercise of an indicative scheme and they will then feed this in to their financial appraisal. 
This will then enable them to open discussions with Homes England around the level of 
grant funding.  
 
 

5.2 Legal implications 
 

The Council has powers under Sections 123 and 127 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
dispose of land in any manner they wish, including sale of their freehold interest, granting a 
lease or assigning any unexpired term on a lease and granting of easements. The only 
restriction is that a disposal must be for the best consideration reasonably obtained 
otherwise consent is required from the Secretary of State. 

 
On 4 August 2003, the Government launched the General Disposal Consent 2003 (“the 
Consent Order”). This allows the Council to sell land, in certain circumstances, for less than 
its market value without having to obtain consent from the Secretary of State for any 
disposal of land where the purpose for which the land is to be disposed is likely to 
contribute to the achievement of the economic, environmental and/or social wellbeing of its 
residents together with the difference between the unrestricted value of the interest to be 
disposed and the consideration accepted being £2m or less. This is known as “an 
undervalue”. 

 
The Council approached a number of registered providers to seek expressions of interest 
for the redevelopment of Siskin Drive Traveller Site but Rooftop Housing Group were the 
only provider who came back and expressed an interest. Officers have therefore entered 
into direct negotiations with Rooftop Housing Group.  

 

Page 25



 

  

A Legal Officer has been instructed to draft an Agreement for Lease (upon grant of Council 
authority) with Rooftop Housing Group. The Council shall grant a lease to Rooftop Housing 
Group conditional on planning permission consent and secured funding. 

  
6. Other implications 

 
 Any other specific implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan (www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/)?  
 
 The redevelopment of 12 new permanent Traveller pitches at Siskin Drive will contribute to 

the Council Plan by improving the supply, choice and quality of housing. 
 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 
 
 The risks have been identified in paragraph 2 which considers the benefits and risks of 

each option. 
 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 
  

The ‘Siskin Drive Traveller Site Manager’ post is a part time post (12.5 hours) and the 
current post holder has been in place since the post was created in May 2013 
A consultation process will be required if the post is deleted or if TUPE applies. 

 
6.4 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
  

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken as the site would continue as a 
permanent site for Travellers. 

 
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

 
 There are no implications or impacts on climate change. The site is currently vacant and in 

poor condition. Redevelopment of the site will provide a brand new purpose built Traveller 
site which will be an improvement to the environment. 

 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 
 
 There are no implications for any partner organisations. 
 
Report author(s): 
 
Name and job title: 
Jo Mascarenhas  - Principal Asset Surveyor  - Property.  
 
Directorate: 
Project Management and Property Services 
 
Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 02476 972103  
jo.mascarenhas@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person. 
 
 

Page 26

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilplan/


 

  

Contributor/approver 
name 

Title Service Area Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors:     

Suzanne Bennett Governance 
Services Co-
ordinator 

Law and 
Governance 

04/11/20 04/11/20 

Paul Beesley Manager – 
Property 
Development, 
Disposal & 
Acquisitions 

Property 15/10/20 2/11/20 

Helen Williamson Lead 
Accountant – 
Capital/Grant 

Finance 19/10/20 26/10/20 

Mark Williams Lead 
Accountant – 
Business 
Partnering 

Finance 26/10/20 26/10/20 

Names of approvers for 
submission: (officers and 
members) 

    

Finance: Phil Helm Finance 
Manager 

Finance 23/10/20 26/10/20 

Legal: Emma Kirby Property 
Lawyer – 
Place Team 

Legal 19/10/20 22/10/20 

Director: Richard Moon Director of 
Project 
Management 
& Property 
Services 

Property 2/11/20 3/11/20 

Members: Cllr Jim O’Boyle Cabinet 
Member for 
Jobs & 
Regeneration 

 13/11/20 16/11/20 

     

     

 
 
This report is published on the council's website: 
www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings  
 
 

 

Page 27

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


This page is intentionally left blank



D
ef

66.2m

C
o Const Bdy

Boro Const Bdy

U
nd

Pumping

M
et Dist Bdy

El Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

65.8m

Station

Boro Const B
dy

Co Const B
dy

Met D
ist B

dy

D
ra

in

E
l S

u
b

 S
ta

Garage

st Bdy

Boro
 C

on
st

 B
dy

1.22m RH

JE Engineering

D
ef

C
on

st
 B

dy

U
nd

Drawn By: LB
Scale : 1:1250 @ A4
Date: 04/11/2020

Title: Siskin Drive Traveller SitePLACE DIRECTORATE
PROPERTY
ONE FRIARGATE
COVENTRY
CV1 2GN
Tel: 024 76972105

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020. Ordnance Survey 100026294
© Bluesky

Richard Moon - Director, Project Management & Property Services

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Response to Petition Requesting "Save the Coventry Elephant"
	5 Response to Petition Requesting the Adoption of a Phone Box in Sutherland Avenue to House a Defibrillator
	6 Redevelopment of Siskin Drive  Traveller Site
	06a - Appendix


